1992

# Lundahl Instruments, Inc., a Utah corporation v. Safety Technology, Inc., a California corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a Final Order of the District Court for the First Judicial District of the State of Utah, in and for the County of Cache. Since the instant case does not involve any of the types of decisions by a district court which give the Court of Appeals jurisdiction pursuant to § 78-2a-3 Utah Code Ann. (1953), the Supreme Court of Utah has jurisdiction in accordance with § 78-2-2(3)(j) Utah Code Ann. (1953).

ISSUES FOR REVIEW AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Does Utah permit parties to a private contract having substantial contacts with Utah to provide that venue may be in a state other than Utah?

Does Utah permit parties to a private contract having such substantial contacts with Utah that venue would otherwise lie in courts of Utah to provide that venue may only be in courts of a state other than Utah?

Did the forum-selection clause in the Master License and Marketing Agreement between Lundahl Instruments, Inc. and Safety Technology, Inc. limit venue for a suit based on nonpayment by Safety Technology for units ordered from and provided by Lundahl Instruments exclusively to courts in the State of California?

The standard for review concerning each of these issues is correctness of the trial court's ruling. See Mountain Fuel Supply v. Salt Lake City, 752 P.2d 884, 887 (Utah 1988) and Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1970 (Utah 1985).

STATUTES AND RULES

The following statutes and rules are subject to interpretation by this Court:

§ 78-13-9, Utah Code Annotated (1953):

The court may, on motion, change the place of trial in the following cases:

(1) when the county designated in the complaint is not the proper county.



(2) when there is reason to believe that an impartial trial cannot be had in the county, city, or precinct designated in the complaint.

(3) when the convenience of witnesses and the ends of justice would be promoted by the change.

(4) when all the parties to an action, by stipulation or by consent in open court entered in the minutes, agree that the place of trial may be changed to another county. Thereupon the court must order the change as agreed upon.

§ 78-13-4, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended:

When the defendant has signed a contract in the state to perform an obligation, an action on the contract may be commenced and tried in the following venues:

(1) If the action is to enforce an interest in real property securing a consumer's obligation, the action may be brought only in the county where the real property is located or where the defendant resides.

(2) An action to enforce an interest other than under Subsection (1) may be brought in the county where such obligation is to be performed, the contract was signed, or in which the defendant resides.

§ 78-13-7, Utah Code Annotated (1953):

In all other cases the action must be tried in the county in which the cause of action arises, or in the county in which any defendant resides at the commencement of the action; provided, that if any such defendant is a corporation, any county in which such corporation has its principal office or place of business shall be deemed the county in which such corporation resides within the meaning of this section. If none of the defendants resides in this state, such action may be commenced and tried in any county which the plaintiff may designate in his complaint; and if the defendant is about to depart from the state, such action may be tried in any county where any of the parties resides or service is had, subject, however, to the power of the court to change the place of trial as provided by law.

Article VIII, Section 5, Constitution of Utah, prior to 1985 repeal:

The state shall be divided into seven judicial districts, for each of which, at least one judge shall be selected as hereinbefore provided. Until otherwise provided by law, a district court at the county seat of each county shall be held at least four times a year. All civil and criminal business arising in any county, must be tried in such county, unless a change of venue be taken, in such cases as may be provided by law. Each judge of a district court shall be at least twenty-five years of age, an active member of the bar in good standing, learned in the law, a resident of the state of Utah three years next preceding his selection, and shall reside in the district for which he shall be selected. Any district judge may hold a district court in any county at the request of the judge of the district, and, upon a request of the governor it shall be his duty to do so. Any cause in the district court may be tried by a judge pro tempore, who must be a member of the bar, sworn to try the cause, and agreed upon by the parties, or their attorneys of record. (As amended November 7, 1944, effective January 1, 1945.)

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

##### NATURE AND COURSE OF THE CASE

Lundahl Instruments, Inc., Plaintiff and Appellant (a Utah corporation), brought the instant action against Safety Technology, Inc., Defendant and Appellee (a California corporation), to recover the price for goods delivered to Safety Technology. An agreement between the two corporations, which Lundahl Instruments argues was terminated in February, 1991, contained a forum-selection clause. Because of the clause, the trial court granted Safety Technology's Motion To Dismiss on

September 30, 1991 (Record at 53-55). And Lundahl Instruments, consequently, filed the instant appeal.

STATEMENTS OF FACT

Lundahl Instruments, Inc., Plaintiff and Appellant (a Utah corporation), and Safety Technology, Inc., Defendant and Appellee (a California corporation), voluntarily, knowingly, and at arm's length executed a Master License and Marketing Agreement dated April 21, 1989. (Record at 53.)

This Agreement provided that Lundahl Instruments would develop an ultrasonic sensing system and would sell such system to Safety Technology, which was given an exclusive license to market and sell the system and was obligated to use its best efforts to do so. (The information in the preceding sentence is, because of the early dismissal of this case, not in the record; it is provided here simply to give the Court background data and not as a basis for decision.)

The Agreement was - except for minor details - negotiated by both parties in Utah. Lundahl Instruments signed the Agreement in Utah; Safety Technology executed the Agreement in California. (Record at 45.)

The ultrasonic sensing system was developed and manufactured in Utah. (Record at 46.)

Safety Technology ordered a number of units of the ultrasonic sensing systems from Lundahl Instruments, which accepted such orders at its place of business in Cache County by sending such

units and executing invoices therefor between August 16, 1990, and April 26, 1991. (Record at 2, 6-21, 46.)

Safety Technology was to send payment for the units to Cache County, Utah. (Record at 46.) The total principal amount owed was \$38,185.72. On October 1, 1990, Safety Technology paid \$1,684.00; on April 23, 1991, \$1,064.00. Safety Technology made no further payment, leaving a principal balance of \$35,437.72. (Record at 2, 6-19.)

Terms on the invoices obligated Safety Technology to pay interest at the rate of one and one-half percent (1.5%) per month on all accounts over thirty (30) days old and to pay Lundahl Instruments any collection costs or expenses involved in collecting a past due account, including reasonable attorney's fees. (Record at 2, 6-19, especially 19.)

For units Safety Technology had ordered and received prior to those discussed above, Safety Technology owed Lundahl Instruments, as of June 22, 1990, interest in the amount of \$10,895.32. (Record at 3, 21.)

The units were sent by Lundahl Instruments from Cache County, Utah, on a common carrier to Safety Technology in California. (Record at 46.)

Lundahl Instruments has maintained in Cache County, Utah, the documentation demonstrating the ordering of the units, the acceptance of those orders, shipping of the units, invoicing for these shipments, and Safety Technology's nonpayment. (Record at 46.)

The Agreement contains a clause which says, in pertinent part:

Venue for any litigation arising out of this Agreement, or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, shall lie in any federal or state court sitting in Defendant's state, with proper jurisdiction over the subject matter thereof. Therefor, if Lundahl were to commence an action against STI, jurisdiction would be in California; if STI were to file an action against Lundahl, jurisdiction would be in Utah.

(Record at 54.)

Lundahl Instruments filed the instant action on June 6, 1991; and the District Court dismissed the action on September 30, 1991, based upon Section 78-13-4 Utah Code Ann. (1953), as amended. (Record at 1, 53-55.)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Opinions of the United States Supreme Court concerning contractual stipulations for venue, *i.e.*, forum-selection clauses, are by their own terms limited to diversity cases and admiralty cases, where federal law governs the enforceability of the clauses. This leaves each state with the freedom to develop its own policy.

The Utah Supreme Court has recognized that it should not permit venue to be changed unless the Utah Legislature has provided therefor. And the relevant statutes permit a change of venue only from one county in Utah to another county in Utah. Moreover, even if the decisions by the United States Supreme Court were applicable, the policy expressed by the Utah statutes

concerning venue would preclude enforcement of the instant forum-selection clause.

But, in any event, the language in the instant clause merely purported to allow venue in another state, not to deprive the Utah courts of venue.

And termination of the underlying agreement ended any effect which the forum-selection clause would otherwise have had over an action to recover from Safety Technology the price for goods ordered from and shipped by Lundahl Instruments.

#### ARGUMENT

#### THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT HAS NOT ISSUED A CONTROLLING OPINION CONCERNING CONTRACTUAL STIPULATIONS FOR VENUE.

Three (3) decisions have been issued by the United States Supreme Court concerning contractual stipulations for venue: M/S Bremen v. Zapata Off-Shore Co., 407 U.S. 1 (1972); Stewart Organization, Inc. v. Ricoh Corp., 487 U.S. 22 (1988); and Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc. v. Shute, 499 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 113 L.Ed. 2d 622 (1991).

Although these decisions upheld the enforceability of the specific forum-selection clauses in question, they are inapplicable to the instant situation. Bremen and Carnival Cruise Lines were based upon admiralty law, and Stewart Organization was a federal diversity case where ". . . federal law, specifically 28 U.S.C. § 1404(a), governs the District Court's decision whether to give effect to the parties' forum-selection clause . . ." 487

U.S. 22, 32 (1988). Similarly, in Carnival Cruise Lines, 499 U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 113 L.Ed 2d 622, 629 (1991), the Court had said, "We begin by noting the boundaries of our inquiry. First, this is a case in admiralty, and federal law governs the enforceability of the forum-selection clause we scrutinize.

And in Bremen, 407 U.S. 1, 9 (1972) the Court observed, "Forum-selection clauses have historically not been favored by American courts. Many courts, federal and state, have declined to enforce such clauses on the ground that they were 'contrary to public policy,' or that their effect was to 'oust the jurisdiction' of the court." In footnote 10, the Court then gave examples of such rulings. The Court did, though, in footnote 11, provide citations to cases which advanced the view ". . . that such clauses are prima facie valid and should be enforced unless enforcement is shown by the resisting party to be 'unreasonable' under the circumstances." 407 U.S. 1, 10 (1972). And the Court announced that it believed ". . . this is the correct doctrine to be followed by federal district courts sitting in admiralty." 407 U.S. 1, 10 (1972) (emphasis added).

The crucial point, however, is that the United States Supreme Court has recognized that each state is entitled to develop its own policy concerning the enforceability of contractual stipulations concerning venue.

THIS COURT SHOULD NOT ENFORCE A FORUM-SELECTION  
CLAUSE PROVIDING FOR VENUE IN ANOTHER STATE  
WHEN VENUE WOULD OTHERWISE BE PROPER IN UTAH  
UNTIL THE LEGISLATURE OF UTAH HAS EXPLICITLY  
PROVIDED THEREFOR.

In State v. Cauble, 563 P.2d 775, 777 (Utah 1977), the Supreme Court of Utah quoted from the then existing version of Article VIII, Section 5 of the Utah Constitution:

. . . All civil and criminal business arising in any county, must be tried in such county, unless a change of venue be taken, in such cases as may be provided by law.

The Court continued by explaining that White v. Rio Grande Western Ry. Co., 25 Utah 346, 71 P. 593 (1903), had ". . . pointed out that the Constitution merely recognizes the existing common-law doctrine of venue and intends to prohibit a change of venue except when authorized by law".

Thus, this Court has recognized that it should not enforce a forum-selection clause providing for venue in another state when venue would otherwise be proper in Utah unless the Legislature of Utah has explicitly provided therefor. And the Legislature has not done so.

In pertinent part, § 78-13-9 Utah Code Annotated (1953) provides, "The court may, on motion, change the place of trial in the following cases . . . (4) when all the parties to an action, by stipulation or by consent in open court entered in the minutes, agree that the place of trial may be changed to another county. Thereupon the court must order the change as agreed upon."

It seems apparent that "stipulation" in this section means a written agreement entered by the parties after the commencement of



litigation and that "another county" means another county within the State of Utah. Despite the fact that a highly strained interpretation could find that the section permits pre-litigation contractual stipulations to compel a change of venue to a county in another state, it seems extremely unlikely that the Legislature would allow the courts of this state to be deprived of the ability to adjudicate cases affecting the citizens of this state without clearly and explicitly so stating.

Until April 23, 1990, the relevant statutory directive on venue concerning written contracts, Utah Code Annotated § 78-13-4, read:

When the defendant has contracted in writing to perform an obligation in a particular county of the state and resides in another county, an action on such contract obligation may be commenced and tried in the county where such obligation is to be performed or in which the defendant resides.

Understandably but unfortunately, this is the version of § 78-13-4 which the trial court erroneously concluded to be currently in force and to control the enforceability of the forum-selection clause in question. (Record at 54.)

The trial court gave no indication that venue should be determined by the statutes concerning venue that were in effect when an agreement containing a forum-selection clause was signed. It seems more likely that the trial court implicitly recognized that venue is properly governed by statutes in effect at the time litigation is commenced but inadvertently quoted a superseded version of the relevant statute.

Presently § 78-13-4 provides in pertinent part:

When the defendant has signed a contract in the state to perform an obligation, an action on the contract. . . may be brought in the county where such obligation is to be performed, the contract was signed, or in which the defendant resides.

Since the Defendant in the instant case signed the agreement under consideration, i.e., the Master License and Marketing Agreement in California (Record at 43.), the permissive provisions of § 78-13-4 are inapplicable; and the controlling directive is the mandatory strictures of § 78-13-7 Utah Code Annotated (1953):

In all other cases the action must be tried in the county in which the cause of action arises, or in the county in which any defendant resides at the commencement of the action; provided, that if any such defendant is a corporation, any county in which such corporation has its principal office or place of business shall be deemed the county in which such corporation resides within the meaning of this section. If none of the defendants resides in this state, such action may be commenced and tried in any county which the plaintiff may designate in his complaint. . . . (emphasis added)

Although Article VIII, Section 5 of the Utah Constitution was amended in 1985 and no longer contains the explicit language concerning venue that was quoted supra, it is instructive that § 78-13-7 Utah Code Annotated (1953) was enacted under such Constitutional language and that there is no indication of an intent to alter the rule that venue may be changed from the court where common law would place it only when a statute authorizes such change.

The final sentence in the quotation from § 78-13-7 lends additional credence to the argument that the term "county" as used in the Utah statutes concerning venue means county within the

State of Utah. Certainly it would be neither logical nor Constitutional to permit a plaintiff to bring suit in any county of the United States (or another country) simply because none of the defendants resides in Utah.

Plaintiff and Appellant, Lundahl Instruments, Inc., properly followed the guidance of § 78-13-7 and commenced its action in Cache County because Defendant and Appellee, Safety Technology, Inc., is a corporate resident of California (Record at 1.) and the cause of action arose in Cache County in that Defendant and Appellee, Safety Technology, failed to send payment for the goods it received from Plaintiff and Appellant, Lundahl Instruments, and such payment was to have been sent to Plaintiff and Appellant, Lundahl Instruments, in Cache County. (Record at 44.)

The Supreme Court of Idaho in McCarthy v. Herrick, 240 P. 192, 193 (Idaho 1925), considered whether a contractual provision for venue could displace a statutory directive which utilized mandatory language similar to that of Utah Code Annotated § 78-13-7 and declared:

To thus authorize the commencement and maintenance of an action in any other county than that fixed by statute is not a proper subject of contract.

Recently, in Cerami-Kote, Inc. v. Energywave Corp., 773 P.2d 1143 (Idaho 1989), the Supreme Court of Idaho was required to apply Florida law to determine the validity of a forum-selection clause. The Idaho Supreme Court determined that Florida had chosen to adopt the reasoning from M/S Bremen v. Zapata Off-Shore Co., supra, which Florida viewed as imposing three conditions

that must exist in order for a forum-selection clause to be enforceable:

1. The forum was not chosen because of overwhelming bargaining powers on the part of one party which would constitute overreaching at the other's expense.

2. Enforcement would not contravene a strong policy enunciated by statute or judicial fiat, either in the forum where the suit would be brought, or the forum from which the suit has been excluded.

3. The purpose was not to transfer an essentially local dispute to a remote and alien forum in order to seriously inconvenience one or both of the parties.

Cerami-Kote, supra at 1146, quoting Maritime Limited Partnership v. Greenman Advertising Associates, Inc., 455 So.2d 1121 (Fla. App. 4th Dist. 1984) (emphasis in Idaho opinion but not in Florida decision). The Supreme Court of Idaho then found that the requisite "strong policy enunciated by statute" was provided by I.C. § 29-110:

Limitations on rights to sue. - Every stipulation or condition in a contract by which any party thereto is restricted from enforcing his rights under the contract by the usual proceedings in the original tribunals, or which limits the time within which he may thus enforce his rights, is void.

Cerami-Kote, supra at 1146 (emphasis in original).

Since this Idaho statute is only slightly more explicit than § 78-13-7 Utah Code Annotated (1953), the policy enunciated in § 78-13-7 that the action must be tried in the county in which the cause of action arises; or, if none of the defendants resides in Utah, in any county the plaintiff designates would - even if the Bremen analysis were applicable - demonstrate that the instant forum-selection clause should not be enforced.

In the only case where the Supreme Court of Utah has considered this conflict between statute and contract, i.e., Petersen v. Ogden Union Railway and Depot Co., 175 P.2d 744, 747 (Utah 1946), the Court ruled: ". . . venue is a privilege which may be waived, but it may not be contracted away in the face of a specific statute which prohibits such contracting, as does Section 5 of the Employer's Liability Act. . ."

EVEN IF ENFORCEMENT OF A FORUM-SELECTION  
CLAUSE IS PROPER, SUCH CLAUSE SHOULD NOT BE  
READ AS A MANDATORY DIRECTIVE UNLESS SUCH  
CLAUSE EXPLICITLY SO PROVIDES.

Even were it appropriate to enforce the instant forum-selection clause, the language of such clause is merely permissive.

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