1992

Lundahl Instruments, Inc., a Utah corporation v. Safety Technology, Inc., a California corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Utah law provides that its venue provisions may be waived by parties to an action. Further, Utah law allows parties to stipulate where venue for certain types of action will lie.

In the present case, each party to the contract knowingly waived its right to assert venue according to the statutes of the state where it maintains its respective residence. The parties stipulated that venue for any litigation arising out of their Agreement, or in any way connected with the Agreement, should lie in any federal or state court sitting in the defendant's state, provided the court has proper jurisdiction over the subject matter.

Because Utah law allows venue to be waived, and by statute expressly provides that parties may stipulate where venue shall lie, the parties should be bound by the terms of their contract, which contract was freely bargained for and entered into with the able representation of counsel, and for which no allegations of fraud, misrepresentation, overreaching, undue bargaining power or adhesion have been raised.

The unambiguous wording of the forum selection clause and use of the word "shall" are mandatory rather than permissive. It should be enforced accordingly.

Further, the equities of the case being evenly balanced, plaintiff should be required to bear the hardship of traveling to a foreign forum because it agreed to at the time of contracting.

Finally, because no fraud in connection with the forum selection clause as been alleged, and because this action arises out of the Agreement or in connection with the transactions contemplated therein, a wrongful, unilateral attempt to terminate the Agreement, even if successful, does not affect the validity and enforceability of the forum selection clause.

ARGUMENT

I. THE FORUM SELECTION CLAUSE IS VALID, ENFORCEABLE, AND AUTHORIZED BY UTAH STATUTES AND CASE LAW.

A. Forum Selection Clauses Are Prima Facie Valid And Enforceable Under The Majority Rule.

Even though forum selection clauses in the past were not well received, "the vast majority of courts today follow the rule that such clauses are prima facie valid and will be upheld absent a showing that they result from fraud, overreaching, that they are unreasonable or unfair, or that enforcement would contravene a strong public policy of the forum." Intermountain Systems, Inc. v. Edsall Const. Co., 575 F. Supp. 1195, 1197 (D. Colo. 1983); Carnival Cruise Lines v. Shute, 499 U.S. ___, 113 L. Ed. 622 (1991). The Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 80 (1971) follows this same approach and it has been adopted by many state courts. See, Manrique v. Fabbri, 493 So. 2d 437, 440 (Fla. 1986); ABC Mobile Systems, Inc. v. Harvey, 701 P.2d 137, 139 (Colo. App.

1985); Colonial Leasing Co. v. McIlroy, 765 P.2d 219, 220 (Or. App. 1988).

Prior hostility of courts to forum selection clauses was due to an argument that such clauses tended to "oust" a court of jurisdiction. This was squarely rejected by the Supreme Court in The Bremen v. Zapata Off-shore Co., 407 U.S. 1, 12 (1971). In Bremen, the Court rejected such arguments as "hardly more than a vestigial legal fiction." Id. Regarding the ouster of jurisdiction argument, the Court stated:

"It appears to rest at core on historical judicial resistance to any attempt to reduce the power and business of a particular court and has little place in an era when all courts are overloaded and when businesses once essentially local now operate in world markets. It reflects something of a provincial attitude regarding the fairness of other tribunals."

Id. The threshold question which should be applied today is whether a court should exercise "its jurisdiction to do more than give effect to the legitimate expectations of the parties, manifested in their freely negotiated agreement, by specifically enforcing the forum clause." Id.

Courts have given various reasons supporting the enforcement of forum selection clauses: (1) Such clauses are demanded by present-day commercial realities and expanding trade. Id. at 15. (2) Failure to enforce such clauses will provide "procedural loopholes through which one of the contracting parties can use dilatory tactics to escape clearly entered into obligations." Maritime LTD. Partnership v. Greenman AD. A., 455 So. 2d 1121, 1123 (Fla. App. 4 Dist. 1984). (3) They promote uniform results

because a corporate defendant will not have to litigate similar issues in numerous different forums. LFC Lessors, Inc. v. Pearson, 585 F. Supp. 1362, 1364 (D. Mass. 1984). (4) They protect the legitimate expectation of the parties; Steward Organization, Inc. v. RICOH Corp., 487 U.S. 22, 33 (1988) (Concurring opinion by Justice Kennedy). (5) They limit the fora in which a large corporate defendant could be potentially subject to suit. Carnival Cruise Lines v. Shute, 113 L. Ed. at 632. (6) They dispel confusion "about where suits arising from the contract must be brought and defended, sparing litigants the time and expense of pretrial motions to determine the correct forum, and conserving judicial resources that otherwise would be devoted to deciding those motions." Id. (7) Finally, they reduce litigation costs, which savings may be passed on to consumers. Id.

Utah courts have not expressly adopted the Restatement or federal case law, nor have they addressed whether forum selection clauses are even valid and enforceable. Utah case law and Utah statutes are, however, in harmony with the above principles.

B. Forum Selection Clauses Do Not Contravene Any Strong Public Policies of the State of Utah.

Sections 78-13-9(3) and 78-13-9(4) U.C.A. state:

The court may, on motion, change the place of trial in the following cases:

(3) when the convenience of witnesses and the ends of justice would be promoted by the change.

(4) when all parties to an action, by stipulation or by consent in open court entered in the minutes, agree that the place of trial may be changed to another county. Thereupon the court must order the change as agreed upon.

Montana has almost identical statutory provisions except for one very significant difference. The Montana statutes state:

Section 25-2-201 Montana Code Ann. (1991), When change of venue is required. The court or judge must, on motion, change the place of trial in the following cases: . . . (3) when the convenience of witnesses and the ends of justice would be promoted by the change.

Section 25-2-202 Montana Code Ann. (1991), Change of venue on agreement of parties. All the parties to an action, by stipulation or by consent in open court entered in the minutes, may agree that the place of trial may be changed to any county in the state. Thereupon the court must order the change as agreed upon. (Emphasis added)

The Montana supreme court has held that these statutes authorize forum selection clauses in contracts. Montana Wholesale Accounts Service, 758 P.2d 759, 760 (Mont. 1988).

Section 78-13-9(4) U.C.A. does not restrict changes in venue to counties within the state, as does Montana's statute. If the Utah legislature had intended that changes in venue be limited to changes within the state it would have drafted the statute as did the Montana legislature. The fact that the words "in the state" are missing in the Utah statute indicates the legislature did not intend a similar restriction. Even if the omission was merely an oversight on the part of the legislature, the broad authority contained in § 78-13-9(3) U.C.A. indicates that such contractual provisions are not against any strong public policy enunciated by the legislature.

A legislature knows how to draft a statute to clearly state their intent. In Title 29, General Provisions Relating to

Contracts, Idaho Code Ann. (1991 Supp.) § 29-110, Limitations on right to sue, it states:

Every stipulation or condition in a contract, by which any party thereto is restricted from enforcing his rights under the contract by the usual proceedings in the ordinary tribunal, or which limits the time within which he may thus enforce his rights, is void.

Id.

The Utah statutes are devoid of any remotely similar provision. Therefore, enforcement of a forum selection clause in Utah would not contravene any strong public policy.

Regardless of which venue statute is controlling, the results are identical. Section 78-13-4, Utah Code Ann. (1953), § 78-13-4 U.C.A., and § 78-13-7 U.C.A. all allow venue for the present case to lie in the county where the defendant resides and are modified and controlled by the additional options of § 78-13-9 U.C.A. A complete reading of § 78-13-7 U.C.A. reveals that, contrary to plaintiff's contention, there is nothing requiring the current action to be brought exclusively in the First Judicial District Court of the State of Utah or even requiring it to be in Utah as it states the action may be "in the county in which any defendant resides" or "[i]f none of the defendants resides in this state, such action may be commenced and tried in any county which the plaintiff may designate in this complaint." Id., (emphasis added). The use of the word "may" makes this provision purely permissive.

Defendant does not dispute that absent the contractual stipulation the current action could be brought in the First Judicial District; however, by its express terms § 78-13-7 U.C.A.

does not mandate that the current action be maintained only in the First Judicial District. Moreover, § 78-13-7 U.C.A. is still "subject to the power of the court to change the place of trial as provided by law" and thus any mandatory directives of § 78-13-7 U.C.A. are subject to the overriding provisions of § 78-13-9 U.C.A. Article VIII, Section 5, Constitution of Utah, which was repealed in 1985, is irrelevant to the current action because in White v. Rio Grande Western Railroad Co., 71 P. 593, 594 (Ut. 1903) the court stated that this section is "so indefinite and general as to render it necessary in each case in which the venue is made an issue to resort to the common law in order to determine whether the venue has been properly laid." Id. Current statutes have made a resort to the common law unnecessary to determine where venue should properly lie.

Finally, § 78-13-9(4) U.C.A. does not state that only stipulations entered into by the parties to the action subsequent to filing a court action are enforceable by the court. This section states that when parties to an action, either by stipulation or by consent in open court agree that the place of trial may be changed to another county, "[t]he court must order the change as agreed upon." (emphasis added). The Montana supreme court, as previously quoted, has interpreted this to include contractual agreements entered into by the parties prior to any litigation. Montana Wholesale Accounts, 758 P.2d at 760. Notably, § 78-13-9(4) U.C.A. is not permissive; it requires courts to order changes according to the parties' agreement.

C. Forum Selection Clauses Should Be Enforced Because They Represent Parties' Rights To Freely Contract As Desired, Absent Any Violation Of Public Policy Considerations.

Utah courts have long recognized that "[w]ith few exceptions, it is axiomatic in contract law that persons dealing at arm's length are entitled to contract on their own terms without the intervention of the courts for the purpose of relieving one side or the other from the effects of a bad bargain." Bekins Bar V Ranch v. Huth, 664 P.2d 455, 459 (Ut. 1983); see also John Call Engineering v. Manti City Corp., 743 P.2d 1205, 1208 (Ut. 1987) ("a party is bound by the contract which he or she voluntarily and knowingly signs,"); Kinne v. Industrial Commission, 609 P.2d 926, 928 (Ut. 1980) ("it is not unreasonable to hold a party responsible for obligations he assumes by contract.").

Under the above enunciated principles, Utah recognizes that parties should be bound by the contracts which are freely entered into and they should not be allowed to escape responsibility for terms which they agreed to, just because the deal may have turned sour. Although Utah courts have not applied these contract principles to cases dealing with forum selection clauses, federal courts have and they have required parties to abide by the terms of their agreements. In Manetti-Farrow, Inc. v. Gucci American, Inc., 858 F.2d 509, 515 (9th Cir. 1988) the plaintiff, an exclusive dealer of Italian perfume, brought an action against the perfume's manufacturer for breach of contract and various torts. The Italian defendant sought to enforce a forum selection clause that required actions to be brought in Italian courts. In rejecting the concern

propounded by the plaintiff the court stated, "it is a concern which the parties presumably thought about and resolved when they included the forum selection clause in their contract. [The plaintiff] now wants to change the bargain." Id.

Similarly, in Rini Wine Co. v. Guild Wineries and Distilleries, 604 F. Supp. 1055 (N.D. Ohio 1985) the court found that the inconveniences asserted by the party seeking to avoid the forum selection clause were not grounds sufficient to prevent transfer of the case. Much like the Manetti-Farrow court, the court in Rini Wine Co. stated that because the plaintiff could have foreseen the inconveniences at the time of entering into the agreement, it could not now complain of any injustice. Id. at 1059.

D. Forum Section Clauses Should Be Valid And Enforceable Because Contracting Parties Have Waived Their Rights To Venue As Dictated by Statute.

Finally, under Utah law "venue is a privilege which may be waived." Petersen v. Ogden Union Railway and Depot Co., 175 P.2d 744, 747 (Ut. 1946). "Provisions in a contract selecting a forum act as a waiver of statutory provisions which would normally determine the appropriate forum." Furry v. First Nat. Monetary Corp., 602 F. Supp. 6, 8 (W.D. Okla. 1984).

A forum selection clause acts as a waiver of venue rights and the right to assert lack of personal jurisdiction as a defense. International Investment and Equine Consultants, Inc., 573 F. Supp. 592, 594 (W.D. Pa. 1983); Vessels Oil & Gas Co. v. Coastal Refining and Marketing, Inc., 764 P.2d 391, 392 (Colo. App. 1988). Because

parties to a contract may "agree in advance to submit to the jurisdiction of a given court, to permit notice to be served by the opposing party, or even to waive notice altogether," it follows that parties may also agree concerning where venue shall lie. The Bremen, 407 U.S. at 11.

Lundahl voluntarily waived its rights to the venue provisions in Utah's statutes when it agreed that:

Venue for any litigation arising out of this Agreement, or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, shall lie in any federal or state court sitting in Defendant's state, with proper jurisdiction over the subject-matter thereof. Therefore, if Lundahl were to commence an action against STI, jurisdiction would be in California; if STI were to file an action against Lundahl, jurisdiction would be in Utah.

Lundahl foresaw the inconveniences that might arise from such a provision; however, while represented by counsel, it freely chose to enter into the Agreement. There have been no allegations of fraud, misrepresentation, overreaching, unreasonableness or unfairness. Regardless of whether the case is litigated in California or Utah, one party will suffer an inconvenience. Each party was equally bound by the Agreement's terms. Had STI brought the action it would have been required to endure the inconveniences of litigating in a foreign forum.

The action is for breach of contract and subject-matter jurisdiction is proper within a California court. There have been no allegations that California does not have an interest in guarantying a party's rights under a contract. Hence Lundahl would not be deprived of its day in court, nor will it work an injustice

to require Lundahl to litigate its claims in a California's court. Accordingly, the plain terms of the Agreement should be enforced.

II. THE CONTRACTUAL STIPULATION IS MANDATORY, UNLESS WAIVED.

"'Shall' in other contexts has an ordinary meaning of imperative obligation, leaving no discretion or choice for the actor. It is typically contrasted and distinguished from 'may.'" Intermountain Systems Inc., 575 F. Supp. at 1198. The judge in Intermountain further stated, "I know of no reason why a different result should obtain in a forum selection clause." Id.; see e.g., S. Lewis Lionberger Co. v. Edward G. Gerritts, 687 F. Supp. 237, 238 (W.D. Va. 1987) (clause which simply submitted any and all disputes to a particular forum was found to be mandatory.)²; see also, ABC Mobile Systems, 701 P.2d at 139 (forum selection clause merely stating "the venue of actions . . . are placed"³ found to be mandatory.)

The contractual stipulation in question contains much stronger language than the provisions referenced above. It is not merely permissive because it states venue "shall" lie in the defendant's resident state. Moreover, to clarify, the stipulation gives an illustration of how venue shall be determined. In view of the

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